SUPREME COURT COPY

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA No. S184059

RETIRED EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION OF ORANGE COUNTY,

Petitioner,

SUPREME COURT

FILED

VS.

COUNTY OF ORANGE, Respondent.

SEP 1 7 2010

Frederick K. Onmoh Clerk

Deputy

After Order Of This Court Accepting Certification Of Question From The United States Court of Appeals For The Ninth Circuit

PETITIONER'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

G. SCOTT EMBLIDGE, State Bar No. 121613
RACHEL J. SATER, State Bar No. 147976
MICHAEL P. BROWN, State Bar No. 183609
MOSCONE EMBLIDGE & SATER LLP
220 Montgomery Street, Suite 2100
San Francisco, California 94104
Telephone: (415) 362-3599
Facsimile: (415) 362-2006
emblidge@mesllp.com

ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

The United States Court of Appeal for the Ninth Circuit certified the following question of California law to this Court:

Whether, as a matter of California law, a California county and its employees can form an implied contract that confers vested rights to health benefits on retired county employees.

INTRODUCTION

For 23 years, one of the elements of compensation the County of Orange ("the County") provided to its employees was the right to remain enrolled in the County-sponsored health plans after retirement, with the County (and active employees) substantially subsidizing the premiums retirees paid to remain enrolled in those plans. This benefit—the Retiree Premium Subsidy—represented a substantial sum of money for County retirees. By the County's own estimates, by 2007 the Retiree Premium Subsidy had an average cash value of more than \$3,000 per year, per retiree. That amount is significant by any measure, but it was especially important to a population that lives on fixed pension incomes that averaged less than \$30,000 per year in 2008.

In 2006, the County embarked on an effort to "restructure" its retiree medical benefits program. As part of that effort the County decided to eliminate the Retiree Premium Subsidy. It bargained with its employee unions to get their agreement to surrender active employees' future rights to receive the Retiree Premium Subsidy upon their retirement. The unions agreed to give up this critical benefit, and in exchange received significant increases in immediate wage compensation.

However, *retired* County employees were not part of these labor negotiations, because they were not represented by the unions. The County considered the option of making its elimination of the Retiree Premium Subsidy "prospective" only, that is, continuing to provide that promised benefit to those employees who had already retired as of the date of the medical benefits restructuring (January 1, 2008). Had the County taken this reasonable approach, the cost of providing the Retiree Premium Subsidy would have been modest (less than \$1 *million* per year for a county with a \$3.5 *billion* annual budget) and would have inevitably dwindled every year, as the closed pool of pre-2008 retirees moved into Medicare eligibility and shrank due to mortality. However, the County instead decided unilaterally to revoke this critical benefit from all 6,000 retirees (and their dependents) who relied on it to maintain medical insurance coverage.

The damage inflicted on County retirees has been severe. The Retiree Premium Subsidy was designed to, and for 23 years did, reduce insurance premium inflation for the older participants in the County-sponsored health plans, especially those thousands of retirees who were not eligible for Medicare and therefore depended on County-sponsored plans as their sole or primary medical insurance. For example, during the final four years that the premium subsidy was in effect (2004 through 2007), premiums for non-

Medicare retirees increased by roughly 5% per year in the County's self-funded health plans. By contrast, during the four years since the County stopped subsidizing retiree premiums in 2008, premium inflation for non-Medicare retirees in those plans has *tripled*, to 16% per year on average. Indeed, the County recently announced that 2011 premium increases for retirees in both self-funded plans will be 24.6% higher than 2010 rates. At this rate, premiums will nearly double every three years.

Retirees' pension incomes are modest (less than \$30,000 per year on average), and are subject to a maximum annual "COLA" increase of less than 3% per year. Accordingly, the drastic increase in the rate of medical insurance premium inflation is causing retirees' premiums to devour their pension income at an alarming rate. In 2007, the \$14,000 annual premium for a retiree with one dependent enrolled in the Wellwise Plan represented approximately 50% of the average annual pension income of a County retiree. But in 2011, the \$25,000 annual premium for the same retiree in the same plan will represent approximately 90% of that income. If this trend continues, premiums for non-Medicare retires in this plan will *surpass* total retiree pension income by 2013.

But the financial statistics tell only part of the story. To cope with the extra expense of unsubsidized premiums, retirees forego other necessities,

deplete their savings, shift into "catastrophic" health plans that offer lower premiums but much higher deductibles and copayments, and/or drop coverage entirely.

The County's legal justification for this draconian decision was this: despite the fact that for 23 years the Retiree Premium Subsidy had been treated by *all* parties as a critical component of the County's retiree medical benefits program, and an element of deferred compensation offered to attract and retain the County's workforce, the benefit had never been reduced to an express written "promise" in County legislation. Thus, the County argued, it was "off the hook" when it came to any legal obligation to continue to provide this benefit to the retired workers who had earned it.

This cynical excuse—that they "never put it in writing"—would obviously not fly in the context of private sector employment agreements. It is well-settled that an employer's policies and practices give rise to implied-in-fact contract rights and duties for employees and employers alike. (See Scott v. Pacific Gas & Electric Co. (1995) 11 Cal.4th 454, 463.) But the County insists that it is immune from contractual duties because it is a governmental agency. As such, the County contends, as a matter of law it cannot be bound by implied-in-fact contract terms. However, the County's per se immunity argument is plainly contrary to the Civil Code and the

precedents of this Court, the Court of Appeals, and the Public Employee Relations Board ("PERB"), all of which require that public contracts be construed in like manner as private contracts, and more specifically that public employers may indeed be bound to implied-in-fact employment terms that arise from established policies, practices and courses of dealing. (*See* Argument Section I below.)

This Court need not choose between the interests of public agencies, in retaining reasonable control over their liabilities, and those of public employees and retirees, in receiving the compensation promised them in exchange for their work. Both interests are legitimate and both are fairly balanced under current legal principles, which require that past practices be well established and recognized before they become implied-in-fact contract terms, and that public entities not be bound by financial obligations of which policy-making officials—and the public—were unaware. (*See id.*)

Here, the County Board of Supervisors established the Retiree

Premium Subsidy and knowingly reenacted it every year for 23 years each
time the Board set premium rates. In addition, the Board (and the public)
knew the costs associated with this post-employment benefit because it
received annual reports explaining the Retiree Premium Subsidy,
characterizing it as a historic County "policy" and "practice," and

quantifying its projected cost. Finally, the Board knew its employees viewed the subsidy as an element of compensation, because the County repeatedly used it as a bargaining chip in labor negotiations with its active employees.

In short, the Board of Supervisors was well aware of the commitment it repeatedly made to its employees that—as part of their compensation package—they would be entitled to subsidized health benefits once they retired. There is no legal or public policy reason to excuse the County from living up to its commitment to its retirees.

PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

REAOC filed this lawsuit in November 2007 in the United States

District Court for the Central District of California, seeking a declaration
that the County's confiscation of this retirement benefit violates the
contracts clauses of the federal and California Constitutions. In December
2008, REAOC and the County argued cross-motions for summary judgment.
Six months later, in June 2009, the District Court granted the County's
motion and denied REAOC's, holding that settled California law *per se*prohibits any implied contract terms relating to compensation in public
employment.

REAOC appealed to the United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit, and requested an expedited appeal schedule. The Ninth Circuit found good cause for expediting the appeal and, over the County's objection, granted REAOC's request. It heard argument on June 10, 2010.

At the oral argument, the panel concluded—contrary to the District Court's holding—that California law was unclear on the question of whether binding implied terms relating to compensation (such as retirement benefits) may arise in public employment. The panel therefore asked that this Court accept certification of the following question: "Whether, as a matter of California law, a California county and its employees can form an implied contract that confers vested rights to health benefits on retired county employees."

REAOC submitted a letter requesting that this Court accept certification, but re-formulate the question to make it clear that it is best understood as presenting two questions: (1) whether California law recognizes implied-in-fact contract terms, relating to retirement health benefits, in public sector employment; and (2) whether benefits conferred by such terms are "vested" in the sense that they cannot be unilaterally revoked, without compensation, from existing retirees. REAOC wanted to clarify that it does not assert that the Retiree Premium Subsidy was "vested" as to active

employees, and that this litigation does not challenge the County's right to negotiate with those active employees to persuade them to surrender their right to receive it in the future—upon their retirement—in exchange for wage increases or other offsetting compensation.

This Court accepted certification by Order dated August 18, 2010.

The Court appears to have accepted the question as originally phrased by the Ninth Circuit.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

It would be a simple matter for this Court to correct the District

Court's error by clarifying that there is no *per se* prohibition under

California law against implied-in-fact contract obligations and rights arising
in public employment. However, REAOC believes that the resolution of this
litigation will be facilitated if this Court goes further, to provide guidance
regarding the sorts of factual circumstances under which a "past practice" or
"course of dealing" ripens into a binding contractual obligation on the part
of a public employer and/or employee. To assist the Court in this task (if it
chooses to undertake it), REAOC sets forth below the factual account of the
23-year practice and course of dealing between the County and its

employees regarding the premium subsidy at issue in this case.¹ That record reflects an almost entirely undisputed 23-year history of the County (1) promising this retirement benefit to its employees and providing it to its retirees, and (2) characterizing this benefit as an element of the *compensation* package the County used to attract and retain a skilled workforce to carry out its business. REAOC will refer to this span of 23 years as the "Relevant Period."

I. THE COUNTY INSTITUTED THE SUBSIDY IN 1985.

For 41 years, from 1966 through 2007, the County provided its retired employees the opportunity to participate in the same County-sponsored health insurance plans as active employees. (ER II: 153:18-23; ER III: 326:1-2; ER III: 359-360.) During the first 18 of those years, from 1966 through 1984, the County attempted to track the insurance claims of active and retired employees separately, and to use that claims data to set premiums separately for each group. (ER II: 153:24-154:4; ER V: 914:26-915:7.) But in 1984 the County discovered that it had been tracking active and retired employee claims expenses incorrectly. (*Id.*) The mistake had resulted in

In its Order granting summary judgment in favor of the County and denying REAOC's cross-motion, the District Court's Order examined almost none of the factual record developed in this case, holding that the only salient fact was the absence of an express written promise on the part of the County's board of supervisors to continue to provide the retiree premium subsidy to County retirees. (ER I: 6:14-22.)

retiree claims being significantly under-reported and active employee claims being over-reported. (ER V: 915:1-7; ER II: 153:24-154:4.) That faulty claims reporting also meant that retirees as a group were paying premiums that were falling far short of covering their claims expenses. (*Id.*)

To bring retiree premiums in line with retiree claims expenses, the County would have had to increase retirees' premiums by 112% for 1985. (ER V: 915:8-16; ER II: 154:5-18.) The County determined that such an increase was too drastic, and that retiree premiums would be subject to excessive inflation over time if they were in fact rated and charged as a separate group of participants. For these reasons, the County opted to formally equalize active and retiree premiums, by combining all beneficiaries into one "pool" for purposes of premium rate-setting. (ER V: 915:8-23; ER II: 154:5-18; ER III: 326:3-6; ER III: 365-377.) REAOC will refer to this as the "Pooled Rate Structure."

The County understood that, as a group, retired employees were on average older, and therefore more expensive to insure, than active employees. (ER V: 913:20-28; ER III: 326:7-8; ER III: 380:10-381:3; ER III: 325:26-27; ER III: 333-334.) Accordingly, under the Pooled Rate Structure, active employees' premiums subsidized retirees' premiums—active employee premiums were higher, and retiree premiums lower, than

they would have been if the County had tracked each group's claims separately and set separate premiums according to their respective claims experience. (ER V: 913:20-28; ER III: 333-335; ER III: 382:2-383:6.) The County and its employee unions referred to this subsidization variously as the "implied subsidy," the "implicit subsidy," and the "retiree premium subsidy." REAOC will refer to it here as "the Retiree Premium Subsidy."

During the Relevant Period the County covered most of the cost of active employees' health premiums; active employees paid "out of pocket" for a share of those premiums. Thus the cost of the Retiree Premium Subsidy was borne mostly by the County and, to some extent, by active employees.

(ER V: 914:3-14.)

II. SOON AFTER IT WAS INSTITUTED, THE RETIREE PREMIUM SUBSIDY BECAME A WELL-ESTABLISHED AND RECOGNIZED PRACTICE AND A SUBJECT OF COLLECTIVE BARGAINING.

From the beginning of the Relevant Period, the County, the unions, and County retirees widely recognized the County's practice of subsidizing retiree premiums through the Pooled Rate Structure. In the late 1980s the County's Human Resources Director and other Human Resources staff frequently discussed the Pooled Rate Structure and the Retiree Premium Subsidy (1) within the Human Resources Department, (2) with the County's retained employee benefits consultants (Mercer, Inc.), and (3) with the

Board of Supervisors and Board staff. (ER II: 154:19-28; ER II: 185:15-25; ER V: 915:24-917:14; ER III: 362:15-25.) In numerous bargaining sessions with the unions during that period, the County characterized the Retiree Premium Subsidy as a valuable benefit that it provided to employees and retirees. (ER II: 155:10-15; ER II: 185:26-186:4; ER V: 915:24-917:14.)

From 1986 through 1990 the County and the unions engaged in litigation over the Unions' demand that the County pay the *entire* cost of retiree medical insurance premiums, on the same terms as it paid for active employees' premiums. (*See Orange County Employees Association v. County of Orange* (1991) 234 Cal.App.3d 833) ["*OCEA*"].) In its 1991 published opinion, the California Court of Appeal described the County's Pooled Rate Structure, and the Retiree Premium Subsidy that resulted from it, as an element of the *comprehensive plan* available to active employees and retirees:

Each [health plan] option provided retirees and employees with exactly the same benefits, at the same premium cost... because retirees, who are not rated separately from active employees, present a substantially higher medical risk than active employees, their premiums are lower than if they were rated separately. Thus, their rate is, in essence, subsidized by the county.

(OCEA, 234 Cal.App.3d at 837-38 [emphasis added].²)

In 1990 the County's employee benefits department prepared a six-page "Rate Proposal" document to assist the Board of Supervisors in its approval of premium rates for County-sponsored plans. (ER V: 915:24-917:14; ER V: 923-945; ER III: 329:17-19; ER IV: 871-879.) The Rate Proposal discussed the Pooled Rate Structure and the Retiree Premium Subsidy that resulted from it:

The County's policy has been to set the required retiree contributions at an amount equal to 100% of the average rate for active employees and retirees. This practice has resulted in the following . . . retirees not eligible for Medicare are not footing the whole bill; they are being subsidized by the County . . .

(ER V: 931 [emphasis added].) The document quantified the projected amount of the Retiree Premium Subsidy for the Self-Funded Plans for 1991 (\$1.5 million) and explained that retiree premiums would more than double if the County did not provide the Subsidy. (*Id.*) The County went on to

The appeal in *OCEA* did not present any issues relating to retirees' contractual rights to additional retirement health benefits. Rather, the sole issue was whether a particular statute, Government Code section 53205.2, required the County to provide the exact same health benefits to active and retired employees. The court held, correctly, that the statute only imposed the requirement that counties "prefer" health plans that offer equal benefits; it did not mandate that they choose such plans. (*Id.* at 841-43.) Here, REAOC is making no claim under section 53205.2 or any other statute, so while the court's description of the County's retiree health benefits program is relevant to this dispute, its holding is not.

prepare similar Rate Proposals for the Board's review *every year* from 1993 through 2007. (ER III: 473, 479, 487, 493, 499, 505, 511, 517, 524, 531, 537, 544, 549.) Every one of those 15 reports—all of which were reviewed and adopted by the Board—repeated the explanation of the Retiree Premium Subsidy, characterized it as a historic County "policy" and "practice," and quantified its projected cost. (ER III: 327:14-16; ER III: 476, 482, 490, 496, 502, 508, 514, 521, 528, 535, 541, 548, 553.)

From 1991 through 1993 the County and the unions bargained extensively over the subject of adding another retirement health benefit to the existing "package" of benefits. (ER II: 185:26-187:11.) This new benefit was to be a monthly stipend—called the Retiree Medical Grant (the "Grant")—which the County would provide to retirees to defray the cost of their (already subsidized) monthly premium. (ER II: 186:5-15, 187:1-11.) During those negotiations, the County made repeated and express reference to the Retiree Premium Subsidy as a valuable existing retiree medical benefit, and as part of the proposed new "package" of retirement health benefits that employees would enjoy upon retirement. (ER II: 186:1-4.) The County even quantified the cash-value of the Retiree Premium Subsidy to each employee/retiree to be approximately \$270 per month. (ER II: 187:25-188:15-22, 196, 209.)

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