## SUPREME COURT CC.

### SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA NO. S184059

#### RETIRED EMPLOYEES ASSOCIATION OF ORANGE COUNTY,

Petitioner

SUPREME COURT FILED

VS.

COUNTY OF ORANGE,

NOV - 8 2010

Respondent.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clerk

After Order of This Court Accepting Certification of Question From

The United States Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit

#### RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Arthur A. Hartinger (SBN 121521)

ahartinger @meyersnave.com

Jennifer L. Nock (SBN 160663)

jnock@meyersnave.com

J. Scott Smith (SBN 151163)

ssmith@meyersnave.com

MEYERS, NAVE, RIBACK, SILVER & WILSON

555 12th Street, Suite 1500

Oakland, California 94607

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

#### III. ARGUMENT

As a matter of California law, a California county and its employees cannot form an implied contract that confers vested rights to health benefits on retired county employees absent a clear expression of legislative intent to do so. Here, not only is there is a clear *absence* of legislative intent by the County's governing body to provide the asserted vested right, but the state legislature has expressly precluded finding a vested right to retiree medical benefits in '37 Act counties.

# A. The Lack of Board Legislation Conferring the Asserted Vested Right to a Particular Methodology for Setting Group Health Rates Precludes Implying That Right

REAOC contends that its members possess a vested right in pooled medical rates because retirees allegedly earned it as part of their compensation when they were working. (Op. Br. at 56.) But California county employee compensation, including retiree benefits, may be established only by Board legislation, and there is no Board legislation here conferring pooled rates as deferred compensation, let alone as a formal benefit protected as a vested right.

# 1. County Employee Compensation, Including Retiree Benefits, May Be Established Only by Board Legislation

Only a majority of the Board of Supervisors is authorized to bind the County as it relates to compensation of employees. (*County of Riverside v. Superior Court* (2003) 30 Cal. 4th 278, 285, 132 Cal.Rptr.2d 713, 723 (*Riverside*) ["The constitutional language is quite clear and quite specific: the county, not the state, not someone else, shall provide for the compensation of its employees"], referencing Cal. Const. art. XI, § 1, subd.

(b), § 1(b) [County's "governing body shall provide for the number, compensation, tenure, and appointment of employees"]; § 25300 ["The board of supervisors shall prescribe the compensation of all county officers and shall provide for the ...compensation ... of county employees"]; Codified Ordinances of Orange County Title 1, Div. 3, Art. 1, § 1-3-2 ["The regulation of the ... compensation of officers and employees of the County of Orange... shall, effective July 1, 1965, be fixed by resolution of this Board"]; § 3505.1 [memoranda of understanding not binding until approved by governing body of public agency]; Assn for Los Angeles Deputy Sheriffs v. County of Los Angeles (2007) 154 Cal. App. 4th 1536, 1548-1549, 65 Cal.Rptr.3d 665, ["the public employee is entitled only to such compensation as is expressly provided by statute or ordinance" quoting Markman v. County of Los Angeles (1973) 35 Cal.App.3d 132, 134-135, 110 Cal.Rptr. 611, citations omitted.) Setting "compensation of county employees" in any way other than by a majority of a County's governing body "would be inconsistent with both longstanding statutory rules of interpretation and established California case law, as well as deeply offensive to basic principles of representative democracy." (County of Sonoma v. Superior Court (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 322, 344-346, 93 Cal.Rptr.3d 39.)

Here, REAOC has failed to identify any Board resolution, MOU, or other legislative enactment that could possibly serve as the basis for its implied contract theory.

When a statute limits a public agency's power to make certain contracts to a certain prescribed method, a "contract made otherwise than as so prescribed is not binding or obligatory as a contract and the doctrine of implied liability has no application in such cases." (*Reams v. Cooley* (1915) 171 Cal. 150, 153-154, 152 P. 293; § 23006 ["Any contract ...made or attempted to be made in violation of law, is void, and shall not be the

foundation... of a claim against the treasury of any county"]; First Street Plaza Partners v. City of Los Angeles (1998) 65 Cal.App.4th 650, 666-668, 76 Cal.Rptr.2d 626 [refusing to imply or enforce contracts where city charter requirements for contracting were not satisfied]; see also Medina v. Bd. of Retirement, L.A. County Employees Retirement Assn (2003) 112 Cal.App.4th 864, 869-872, 5 Cal.Rptr.3d 634 [where Board of Supervisors did not adopt provision allowing appellant district attorneys to be classified as safety members, "purported contract to give appellants the pension benefits of safety members" was invalid, and "the vested rights doctrine does not apply"].)

Although REAOC relies on *Youngman v. Nevada Irrigation District*, discussed *infra*, its holding is consistent with the principle that a contract may not be made in conflict with a statutory restriction. (*Youngman v. Nevada Irrigation Dist.* (1969) 70 Cal.2d 240, 246, 74 Cal.Rptr. 398 (*Youngman*) ["Governmental subdivisions may be bound by an implied contract *if* there is no statutory prohibition against such arrangements"], emphasis added.) (See Op.Br. at 34, 46.) Moreover, the public sector case REAOC cites as relying on its interpretation of *Youngman* is also consistent with this principle. (See *Air Quality Products, Inc. v. State of California* (1979) 96 Cal.App.3d 340, 349, 157 Cal.Rptr. 791 [after citing *Youngman*, court explained that "no contractual obligation may be enforced against a public agency unless it appears the agency was authorized by the Constitution or statute to incur the obligation; a contract entered into by a governmental entity without the requisite constitutional or statutory authority is void and unenforceable"], citations omitted.)

2. There is No Board Legislation Here Conferring the Asserted Vested Right to a Particular Methodology for Setting Group Health Rates

Throughout this litigation REAOC has equivocated on what

legislative instrument could possibly underlie its implied contract claim. At various times REAOC has identified 1) a 1984 resolution by which the Board adopted the rates for 1985 only; and 2) an MOU that is silent on pooling or equalizing active employee and retiree rates. (See *REAOC*, supra, 632 F.Supp.2d at 986 [noting that REAOC "earlier seemed to embrace Resolution 84-1460 as providing the necessary Board approval" but when that "prove[d] to be an unfruitful embrace," REAOC argued "that the pooling benefit was an implied term of the memoranda of understanding between the parties"].) There was no dispute, however, that neither instrument contained Board approval of the alleged vested right. (See Ibid. ["the parties do not dispute that Board resolutions do not explicitly provide that the retirees are entitled to the pooling benefit for their lifetimes"]; Opening Brief of Appellant Retired Employees Association of Orange County, filed August 28, 2009, in the Ninth Circuit, at p. 1 [REAOC concedes that the subsidy from pooling rates "had never been set forth in express terms in the collective bargaining agreements between the County and its employees"].)

Because the 1984 resolution did not express a legislative intent or "continuing obligation" to set retiree rates equal to active rates for any period of time beyond 1985, and because the MOU identified by REAOC, as well as the complete package of Board legislation submitted to the district court and now to this Court, did not express the Board's intent or "continuing obligation" to set retiree rates equal to active rates at all, none can serve as the legislative instrument from which to "imply" a vested right to pooling. (Cal. Teachers Assn. v. Cory (1984) 155 Cal.App.3d 494, 505, 202 Cal.Rptr. 611 (Cory) [statute manifested a "continuing obligation" before the Court would find a vested right].)

# 3. Extrinsic Evidence Alone, in the Absence of Applicable Board Legislation, Cannot be Used to Imply the Asserted Vested Right

In light of the absence of any express intent by the Board to create a right to a lifetime benefit of pooling, REAOC turns to a hodgepodge of extrinsic evidence. None of the proffered evidence can create a vested right in the absence of an underlying legislative instrument reflecting the Board's intent to adopt the benefit at issue. (See Sonoma County Assn. of Retired Employees v. Sonoma County (N.D. Cal. May 14, 2010, No. 09-04432 CW) F.Supp. \_\_\_\_\_, 2010 WL 1957463, \*3 [while extrinsic evidence "could be probative of the scope of [any] promises allegedly made by county resolution and ordinance," such evidence cannot, "by itself, contractually bind [the County] to provide retirees medical benefits"], citing Dimon v. County of Los Angeles (2008) 166 Cal. App. 4th 1276, 1284-85, 83 Cal.Rptr.3d 576 (Dimon); Sappington v. Orange Unified School District (2004) 119 Cal.App.4th 949, 954-55, 14 Cal.Rptr.3d 764 (Sappington); Glendale City Employees' Assn., Inc. v. City of Glendale (1975) 15 Cal.3d 328, 339-40, 124 Cal.Rptr. 513 (Glendale); see also Sterling v. Taylor (2007) 40 Cal.4th 757, 767, 55 Cal.Rptr.3d 116 ["Because the memorandum itself must include the essential contractual terms, it is clear that extrinsic evidence cannot *supply* those required terms"], emphasis in original.)

REAOC's first argument is simply that the Board approved retiree medical rates that were equal to active medical rates each year between 1984 and 2006, for the 1985 to 2007 plan years. This argument should be rejected for the simple reason that the Board's exercise of its legislative authority each year does not mean that the Board is legally obligated to exercise its discretion in any particular way in the future, and there are no cases holding otherwise. Case law specifically rejects the same type of

evidence and analysis that REAOC asserts here. (See *Sappington, supra,* 119 Cal.App.4th at 954-55.)

The issue in *Sappington* was whether a policy approved by the school district's governing board in 1976 gave retirees a vested right to free PPO coverage, where the policy read, "The District shall underwrite the cost of the District's Medical and Hospital Insurance Program for all employees who retire from the District provided they have been employed in the District for the equivalent of ten (10) years or longer." (*Sappington, supra,* 119 Cal.App.4th at 951.) To determine the existence of a vested right, the court began "with the language of the policy itself' and noted, "As the basis for a vested right, the policy is curiously brief and unspecific." (*Sappington, supra,* 119 Cal.App.4th at 954.) This language, of course, is more than any language contained in any Board enactment in this case.

As in the instant case, "[t]actily conceding that the language of the policy does not support their position, the retirees turn[ed] to the extrinsic evidence of the parties' course of conduct between 1977 and 1997." (*Id.* at 954.) After an analysis of the policy at issue, as well as the proffered extrinsic evidence, the court reasoned, "[t]he fact the District provided a free PPO benefit for 20 years-before health insurance premiums skyrocketed and the cost of PPO coverage began far outpacing the cost of HMO coverage-does not prove the District promised to provide that option forever." (*Id.* at 955.) Concluding that the "the retirees have no vested right under the policy to free PPO coverage," the court explained, "Generous benefits that exceed what is promised in a contract are just that: generous. They reflect a magnanimous spirit, not a contractual mandate." (*Id.* at 954-955.)<sup>5</sup>

<sup>5</sup> Although it was suggested during oral argument before the Ninth Circuit

REAOC also argues that County representatives and agents described pooling as a "policy" or "practice" or promised "benefit." In this regard, REAOC's representation of the record is grossly inaccurate. The record shows that responsible county officials did not characterize pooling as compensation or a promised benefit. With regard to labor negotiators who allegedly promised in 1991-1993 to pool rates (Op. Br. at 15-16), not only did the County continue to pool rates through 2007, but neither the County's negotiators nor the Board promised to provide the benefit for any retiree's lifetime. (See SER 7-15 [REAOC witness Dave Carlaw, former County Chief of Employee Relations through 1992, testified, "I'm not going to say I didn't talk about the combined pool, but there wasn't a promise that it would go on indefinitely"]; SER 28-32 [REAOC witness Ron Kautz, who worked for the County for 27 years, and served as the County's Benefits Manager, testified that he was unaware of the Board ever promising or resolving to continue a pooling methodology for the duration of retirees' lifetimes]; ER V: 1145, ¶ 8 [retired Human Resources Director Jan Walden declared that in the negotiations leading up to the 1993 adoption of the Retiree Medical Plan, "Nor was there any commitment by the County that the 'pooling' methodology would be continued throughout any retirees' lifetime"]); ER V: 1176-1177, ¶ 7 [former Chief Negotiator Judy Cheek declared that in discussing pooling during the 1993 Plan negotiations, "the County never committed itself to set the premiums in a pooled fashion. It was always my understanding that the Board of

that Sappington held that the retirees had a vested right to free HMO coverage, that issue was not before the court: "We note that the trial court implicitly found the policy obligated the District to provide at least one fully paid health plan, and the District's provision of free HMO coverage satisfies that obligation. We do not reach that issue, because the sole issue on appeal is whether the policy requires the District to provide free PPO coverage. We have determined the answer is no." (Sappington, supra, 119 Cal.App.4th at 955, emphasis added.)

Supervisors retained the discretion to set health plan rates each year, and I believe everyone at the table understood that"].)

With respect to REAOC's reliance on the words "policy" and practice" used in outside reports by the City's actuarial consultants, REAOC omits from the record that those consultants confirmed that they were unaware of *any* enactment by the Board of Supervisors requiring the rates to be set in a pooled fashion. These were reports prepared by outside consultants, and none of the words in the actual legislation adopted by the Board contained any expression of an intent to limit the Board's discretion in the future. (See ER V: 1173-1174, ¶¶5, 7.)

REAOC goes so far as to insert language into a financial report quote to show that the report characterized pooling as part of the County's compensation package (Op. Br. at 22 and 57, citing ER VI: 1233), but the actual report makes no mention of pooling. (See ER VI: 1233 [refers only to pension benefits and the "Retiree Medical Plan," which provides the grant<sup>6</sup> and has a no-vesting provision, as discussed *supra*].) REAOC also mis-cites the County as stating in its Ninth Circuit brief in this case that it offered pooling to induce service to the County, when it said no such thing. (Op. Br. at 57, mischaracterizing County Responding Brief at 47-48.) Regarding actuarial reports (Op. Br. at 20-22), the actuarial report REAOC cites explicitly states that it "does not imply that an obligation to continue the plan exists," where the plan is described as including an "Implied Subsidy," defined as, "Participating retirees pay the active premium rates rather than the actual medical cost." (ER IV: 642, 646, emphasis added.)

<sup>6</sup> Although REAOC labels the subsidy that resulted from pooling or equalizing retiree rates with active employee rates as the "Retiree Premium Subsidy," it is important that REAOC's use of that terminology not be confused with the grant, which is the actual retiree premium subsidy that is referenced in the County's financial report and which is provided by the 1993 Retiree Medical Plan that includes a no-vesting clause. (SER 62-63.)

REAOC also mischaracterizes an individual supervisor's statement about contractual obligations as applying to pooling. (Op. Br. at 19.) Even so, "it is well settled that, in construing legislation, a court does not consider the motives or understanding of individual legislators even when it is the person who actually drafted the legislation." (No Oil, Inc. v. City of Los Angeles (1987) 196 Cal.App.3d 223, 248, 242 Cal.Rptr. 37, citing In Re Marriage of Bouquet (1976) 16 Cal.3d 583, 589, 128 Cal.Rptr. 427.)

And as a final example, while REAOC claims the County's request for proposal for legal services related to this issue characterized pooling as a post-employment benefit (Op. Br. at 24-25), REAOC again misconstrue the record. The request for proposal stated that "the County's position is that neither the benefits under the Plan, nor the health insurance rate pooling are vested." (ER V: 904.)

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